
WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD

AGENDA

Tuesday, 21 July 2015 commencing at 9.00 am

Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

1. 09:00  APOLOGIES AND INTRODUCTIONS (Pages 1 - 2)

2. 09:05 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive the minutes of the previous meeting.

3. 09:10  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING (Pages 3 - 8)

To consider any matters arising from the minutes that are not dealt with elsewhere on 
the agenda.

4. 09:15  SPECIALIST SERVICES REDESIGN 

5. 09:30 BIRKENHEAD FOUNDATION YEARS PROJECT UPDATE (Pages 9 - 18)

09:45  BREAK

6. 10:00 THE VOICE OF YOUNG PEOPLE 

7. 10:30 CHILD POVERTY UPDATE (Pages 19 - 24)

8. 10:45 SAFEGUARDING UPDATE (Pages 25 - 28)

9. 11:00  CHILDREN'S TRUST BOARD - THE WAY FORWARD (Pages 29 - 32)

10. 11:15 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT - YR 2014 (Pages 33 - 36)

11. 11:45  ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Date and time of next meeting:





WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD

AGENDA

21 July 2015
9:00 am – 12.00 noon 

                                       Committee Room 1, Wallasey Town Hall           
  (D) = Decision (I) =Information

1. 09:00 Apologies and Introductions Chair (I)

2. 09:05 Declarations of interest Chair (I)

3. 09:10 Minutes of the last meeting and actions arising Chair (I) 

4. 09:15 Specialist Services Redesign                                             Lisa Arthey        (I)

5. 09:30 Birkenhead Foundation Years Project Update               Z. Munby (I)

         09:45 Break      
 
6. 10.00 The Voice of Young People                               Creative Youth Development

7. 10.30 Child Poverty Update B. Morgan (I)

8.      10.45 Safeguarding update B. Walker (I)

8. 11.00 Children’s Trust Board – The Way Forward J. Hassall (i)(D)

9. 11.15 Performance Management – Yr 2014 J. Hassall (I)
                 

10. 11.45 AOB

Dates of future meetings: 

21 September 2015
18 January 2016
16 May 2016





1151

Page 1

WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD

MINUTES

Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday, 31 March 2015

PRESENT: 
Councillor T Smith (Chair), Cllr W. Clements, Cllr C. Meaden, J. Hassall, P Sheridan, 
S Dainty, J. Graham, V. Harrison, R. Longster, J. Owens, N. Robertson, B. Walker, 
Supt Martin

IN ATTENDANCE: 
M. Newman, T. Woodhouse.

1.0  INTRODUCTIONS and APOLOGIES 
Cllr Smith welcomed the members and noted apologies had been received from 
J. Webster, J. Welsh, G. Price, F. Pender, N. Currie, P. Ellis, N. Clarkson, K. Podmore

2.0  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
Cllr Meaden declared her interest as a family member was connected via employment.

3.0  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING (20 January 2015) and ACTIONS ARISING
The minutes were checked for accuracy and a correction was noted of non-attendance of 
Supt Martin at the last meeting.  With this amendment the minutes were accepted as an 
accurate record of the meeting.

J. Hassall took the opportunity to announce that a small amount of money had been made 
available to help fund the resource at Link Forum.   This would be in place from April 2015.  
J. Owens welcomed the good news as it was felt this was an important resource.

4.0   Ofsted’s Single Inspection Framework for Children’s Services (presentation)
The Board received the presentation, which outlined the recent work undertaken by S. 
Butcher and provided an excellent platform to take the service forward. Slide 1 focused on 
the difference that can be made and how well social workers and others would work directly 
with families to manage the risk involved.  It also highlighted strengths of partnership working 
and how this can prove to be effective for children caught up in situations of domestic 
violence, drug or alcohol misuse in the home. It also noted that Ofsted would be looking for 
leadership and accountability as being key.  The work also focused on CSE and also that this 
must be high on the agenda of scrutiny committees in the future.  It also advised that a watch 
on ‘child out of the area’ must be maintained.

The Ofsted visits will be unannounced and high their radar will be to ensure that child 
protection plans are in place.  During the 4-week visit they will look at the MASH process, 
look at a sample of cases and will also talk to foster carers. Daily meetings will be held with 
the director, senior managers and also practitioners. Since the Ofsted report of March no 
authority has been ranked as outstanding.  The Board was also advised that a new Head of 
Service has been appointed to help ensure that Wirral is ready and prepared for any visits.
J. Owens asked if any specific training or CPD has been put in place to support staff.  In 
response it was advised that a considerable amount of extra training and support has been 
undertaken and a period of consolidation needs to take place to ensure all staff are clear as 
to what the inspectors expect.



2

R. Longster said that the presentation gives a clear in depth oversight and requested areas 
of focus or actions that the Board needed to be aware of.  He was advised that the work had 
highlighted some areas that needed to show improvement and these were being addressed.

B. Walker suggested that the Board obtain a copy of the Leeds Ofsted report, which showed 
that leadership was outstanding, and also illustrated examples of good social services.

Cllr Smith thanked J. Hassall and also S. Butcher for the work and closed by saying that he 
hoped all areas of the council and partners would note the need for pace and also the 
change in culture that was perhaps needed.

It was resolved that: The Board notes the information in the presentation.

5.0  Being Healthy Group – Annual Update
The Board received the annual update.  It was advised that the National Healthy Child 
programme sets out the recommended framework of universal and progressive services for 
C&YP to promote their health and wellbeing.  This in part will be delivered via the HCP 0-19 
programme.  The Board was asked to note section No.2 of the report, which highlighted the 
key achievements relating to the priorities for 2014/15; the most notable being the 
breastfeeding needs assessment, which was completed to examine local views/best practice 
in order to inform service developments and the work on oral health.  Section no. 3 focuses 
on the key issues for 2015/16, which highlighted the conversations currently taking place to 
develop joint commissioning for children’s services.  Also the promotion of Vitamin D update 
has been included in the Healthy Child Programme and it is hoped that uptake would 
increase through partner organisations.

Areas for development will focus on oral health, maternity services, work with the Better Food 
Wirral with regard to free school meal offer and also the strategy development for Risk and 
Resilience.

Sections no. 4 and 5 deal with the key challenges ahead, with the risk to outcome of delivery 
and actions due to budget demands and resources.

Section no. 6 outlined the areas requiring further partnership work around breastfeeding, 
teenage pregnancy and the JSNA.  However it was pointed out that Public Health continue to 
impact assess any changes to priorities and regular undertakes needs assessments.  Areas 
for reporting focus are noted in Section no. 8 and cover infant mortality, infant feeding, pupil 
panels, teenage pregnancy and alcohol and substance misuse.

In summary, the Board was advised that good progress has been made in delivering the 
Being Healthy element of the C&YP Plan and in meeting some of the relevant national 
indicators relating to this outcome area.  Further changes and budgetary challenges will 
continue to affect progress during the current year and the impact of these will require 
monitoring and remedial action.

Cllr Smith thanked J. Graham for the comprehensive report.

It was resolved that:  The Board notes the report.
 

6.0 Safeguarding Update: Child Sexual Exploitation
The Board received the report of the WSCB, which highlighted the 12-month campaign 
against CSE.  It also brought the members’ attention to the launch on 18 March of the 



3

National Awareness Raising Day for Child Sexual Exploitation.  The campaign is in 
partnership with the Merseyside LSCB and details can be found on the website 
www.listentomystory.co.uk.  The WSCB has requested that partners answer the 4 key 
questions highlighted in the report with regards to their CSE preparedness, with responses 
returned by 24 April.  The findings will then be published.

The discussions at the quarterly meetings of the WSCB are also brought to the attention of 
members and some of the topics covered in their 10 March meeting are contained in the 
report.  This included a discussion on private fostering and a task and finish group would be 
set up to further discuss and implement recommendations with regard to private fostering.  
The Board was also advised that the Section 11/Section 175 Safeguarding Audit is now on 
line and training has been offered to all partners.  B. Walker also reported on the launch of 
the WSCB twitter account – @wirrallscb.  This will coincide with the launch of the national 
awareness raising day and WSCB will continue to explore other ways to be accessible to 
children, young people, families, professionals and the wider community including using 
social media and redeveloping the use of the website.

In response to a question on private fostering, Cllr Meaden explained that this was usually a 
private arrangement between families or extended family members to look after children or 
young people.  J. Owens was pleased to hear about the twitter account and also advised the 
members of the excellent talk given to her school governors recently by David Robbins on 
CSE.  B. Walker also offered assistance to partners with regard to the completion of the 
Safeguarding Audit, which although not compulsory, would be of great value if completed.  
An invitation to visit the May meeting of Headteachers to explain the Audit was extended to 
B. Walker.

Cllr Smith thanks B. Walker for his report. 

It was resolved that: The Board accepts the recommendations in the report.

7.0  Annual Review and Refresh of the C&YP Plan
The Board received the report and updated Plan, which was an annual review and refresh to 
determine that the Plan remains relevant and fit for purpose.  It is a concise tool for review 
against progress.  The members were advised that there is no statutory requirement to have 
a C&YP Plan and going forward there is a proposal to evolve to a new structure as a Wirral 
Children’s Trust Commissioning Group.  The Plan has reflected this proposed change but the 
Children’s Trust Executive has ensured that the priority areas and activity included are areas 
that will continue to be delivered in the final year. 
 
It was resolved that: The Board approved the recommendation in the report.

8.0 Children’s Trust Board Direction of Travel (tabled)
J. Monty tabled a copy of the Task and Finish group recommendations to the Board.  This 
presented the recommendations from the task and finish group on the proposal to position 
the Board as a Children’s Trust Joint Commissioning Group. This group was set up following 
discussions and a recommendation at the September 2014.  
The proposal sets out the future direction of travel for the Children’s Trust.  The Children’s 
Trust Board would continue and become the Children’s Trust Partnership Board and its 
membership would broadly remain the same with the opportunity to review going forward.  
The main function of the Board would be ratify and endorse key decisions as well as being 
the medium for scrutinising, reporting performance and to ensure that the C&YP Plan is 
delivered.  The Board would meet three times per year.  A Children’s Joint Commissioning 

http://www.listentomystory.co.uk/


4

Group would also be established; the membership of this group would be taken from 
strategic commissioners from a number of partners.  This group would be the vehicle to drive 
forward proposals and specifications and manage and align resources and focus 
commissioning on outcomes.  

It is recommended that the Board allow the new arrangements time to operate and to 
commence fully in September 2015.  The Joint Commissioning Group will also meet and 
report into the Board.  It was advised that the focus for 15/16 would be on early years and 
readiness for school and SEND.  The group’s attention was also brought to section 4.3 of the 
proposal, which sets out the need to align intelligence/data and finance.  Each member of the 
joint Commissioning Group would need to identify areas of responsibility, resources and 
budget breakdown.

B. Walker suggested that the 3 objectives of the Children & Young People be included in the 
terms of reference together with a reference to the Health & Wellbeing Board.

J. Hassall said the proposal is an opportunity to work with and through partners as key 
decisions need to be made on how the budget is used.   

It was resolved that: 
The Board accepts the recommendations in the proposal.
An update would be presented to the Board in July.
                      

9.0 LADS Project (presentation)
The Board received the presentation on the LADS project which is a project aimed at young 
men aged between 13-19 years old and has been designed to address a number of issues 
relevant to young men in today’s society.  This could be drug/alcohol misuse: 
harmful/exploitative relationships: criminal/anti-social behaviour: raising aspirations and 
developing resilience.

Access is via the GATEWAY and 39 young men were involved and an outline of the activities 
and subjects covered during the 8-week development programme were outlined.

In response to a question on feedback, Mark Newman advised that no formal feedback 
process was followed and maybe it was something that needs to be considered.  Also Supt 
Martin was interested in following up on the risk taking behaviour session.

Discussions followed on the possibility of holding future events but the issue of funding was 
raised and one area of potential was via a link to the pupil funding and the possibility of a link 
with schools.  A suggestion that there may be access to funding via the youth offending 
service was also mentioned.

Cllr Smith thanked M. Newman for the presentation.
  
It was resolved that: The Board notes the information contained in the presentation.

10.0 Early Years, Children’s Centres, Early Help - update
The Board received the report on the three key areas related to early years, children’s 
centres and early help.  

It was advised that the Early Years and Children’s Centres review had been out to public 
consultation and four specialist events for partners and key staff were also held.  The service 



5

specification information was also considered and local consultation with service users and 
partners also took place. The Board was advised that all information from the consultation 
and events would be taken to the Steering Group for Early Years.  This group would oversee 
the implementation, development and ongoing delivery of the proposed model.

With regard to the Ofsted inspection, it was reported that the inspections of Birkenhead 
Children’s Centres Cluster group in May 2014 and West Wirral Cluster Group in February 
2015 were both judged as inadequate but it was confirmed that no children were left 
compromised as a result of the inspection.  It was further reported that significant 
improvements have taken place since the last inspection.  Standards of practice and 
management and oversight of individual casework has been implemented in preparation for 
an inspection in the near future.

Cllr Smith acknowledged the work that had taken place and also that pace and a change in 
culture needs to be recognised.  However it was also recognised that we have to target 
families that need support and evidence this.  The Board was informed that task and finish 
groups have also been set up to develop a local strategy.

Cllr Smith thanked D. Gornik for the comprehensive update.
 
It was resolved that: The Board notes the report and appendices.

11. AOB
No further items for discussion had been raised.

CLOSE:
As there was no further business to discuss the meeting closed at 11.40 hrs

DATE AND TIME OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
  

9.00 am 21 July 2015 WallaseyTown Hall





1

WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 21st July; 2015

Birkenhead Foundation Years Project Up-date, July 2015

1.0 Background
The Project’s last report to the Trust was for the quarter up to December 2014.  

2.0 Overview of the Project’s activities January – June 2015
The Project is commissioning and delivering services which will impact on 3 factors which 
have a significant impact on school readiness: the home learning environment; parental 
mental health and well-being; and parental warmth and sensitivity.  The services which have 
run in this period (January – June 2015) are as follows:

2.1Bump-Start: one-to-one peer support for women from the 20th week of pregnancy until 
the child is 6 months old. Ran throughout the period, delivered by Home-Start Wirral: 
target 50 families across the year: actual in this 6 month period 31 (23 in previous six 
month period).

2.2PEEP Home Play: one-to-one play in the home with child and parent(s) to encourage 
those who feel unable to attend groups, because of low self-confidence or practical 
obstacles to accessing services.  Aims are to firstly encourage play in the home and 
subsequently to support parents to access group services.  The project team maintained 
a minimum level of delivery during the first 3 months, whilst arranging transfer to delivery 
by Home-Start Wirral: target 8 families; actual - 4 supported (4 in previous six month 
period).  Now the transfer of the delivery has taken place referrals are increasing again.  
Addresses support for the home learning environment.  

2.3Stay & Play: informal parent and child play group with structured activities for children 
and progressive development of parental involvement. Ran throughout the period, 
delivered by the project team: target 30 families; actual 35 families (28 in previous six 
month period).  Some sporadic and one-off attendance but a core of 12 families attended 
the majority of sessions. A third group started during this period. Addresses support for 
the home learning environment.  

2.4Read it Together @ (RITA): parent and child group with supported parent and children 
reading together, followed by adult reading while children have play session.  Ran 
throughout the period at the Manor school, Rock Ferry Children’s Centre and Our House, 
Rock Ferry.  Target of 15 families with sustained attendance; actual 49 families attended 
(24 in previous six month period), with 16 consistent attendees.  Addresses support for 
the home learning environment and parental mental health and well-being.

2.5My Child: group programme for families when child starts the Foundation 1 stage at 
school, delivered by Home-Start Wirral in collaboration with the primary school: target 3 
groups and 24 families; actual 3 groups (two schools) and 18 families (did not run in 
previous six months).  Addresses support for the home learning environment.

2.6School holiday activities: all programme participants were invited to school holiday 
activities in February (Birkenhead Park), April (Tam O’Shanters) and May (New Brighton 
beach).  A full programme is planned for the summer holidays.  Addresses support for the 
home learning environment.

3.0 Monitoring and outcomes
Poverty indicators are being collected: no member of household in paid work; living in social 
housing/with parents/in rented housing; no access to car.  These were chosen as externally 
recognised poverty indicators which are also less intrusive questions for families.  There has 
been some disruption to the collection of full monitoring data as a consequence of 
transferring play services to Home-Start Wirral.  We are concentrating in the remainder of 



2

2015 on finalizing our processes and approach to monitoring in anticipation of an external 
evaluation.

The Basic Early Skills and Support Index (BESSI) has reached the stage of its development 
where Cambridge University Centre for Family Research are confirming that it is valid for use 
from the age of 2.5 to 5.5 years.  We will therefore be adopting this as a measure for all 
children reaching that threshold (2.5 years) we support.  The BESSI manual is undergoing 
testing and we will be trialing it using data from Birkenhead schools, which will allow us to 
independently score the questionnaires. We are in discussion with WMBC officers in relation 
to bringing the Cambridge team to the Wirral to provide a briefing in September as a stimulus 
to wider adoption of BESSI across services.

4.0 Longer term developments
a) Location
We are developing additional services in Rock Ferry with the aim of running the full range 
of activities across both areas by December 2015.

b) Added value
 The Foundation Years Trust’s profile has resulted in invitations to speak at 

conferences in Hampshire, Suffolk and a recent Westminster Social Policy 
Forum at which the project and the BESSI indicators have been promoted.  The 
Cambridge University team are promoting BESSI, its development and part-
funding in the Wirral, at a series of national and international conferences.  Two 
peer reviewed articles detailing the BESSI research are now published and 
resulting in increased interest in the tool e.g. a number of London Boroughs 
planning to adopt it.

 Additional PEEP practitioner training is being delivered in the autumn and we 
will seek opportunities to include colleagues across the sector.

 The BBC have offered to bring a CBeebies Roadshow to Birkenhead, to 
showcase the range of resources available across a variety of ‘platforms’, for 
children, parents and practitioners.

c) External evaluation
A commissioning document has been developed and we are in discussions on the 
shape of the external evaluation.

d) Project funding
The Birkenhead Foundation Years Project has currently sufficient funding to last until 
July 2016.  Further funding is being sought by the Foundation Years Trust to secure 
continuation of the project until December 2018; funding for an external evaluation; 
and funding for the post of Trust Director.  There are a number of avenues of funding 
currently under discussion with major private funders.

Report Author:  Zoë Munby Contact: 0151 647 4830 
zmunby@foundationyearstrust.org.uk

Appendices:
1. Milestone report
2. Extract from analysis of Bump-Start data

 



Birkenhead Foundation Years Project milestones

Page 1

SERVICE OUTPUT and
OUTCOME

January - June 2015 Red, green,
amber

Commentary

Progress towards service
level outputs - reaching
and sustaining
engagement with poorer
families

Bump-Start: 75% of families supported
meet 2 or more poverty indicators

31 families: 5 have not provided full monitoring data yet;  8 meet 1 poverty indicator; 3 meet 2; 15 meet all three.  No families own their own houses - those
meeting one poverty indicator are accounted for by families with one person in work and running a car - may well be low waged.

Read it Together @ groups: 25% of
families meet 1 or more poverty
indicators

49 families:  33 have not provided full monitoring data - visited group 1 or 2 times only in the period; of the 16 with sustained attendance all except one meet 1
poverty indicator and 9 meet two.  These figures represent one group on the Beechwood estate and two in Rock Ferry: in the Rock Ferry groups include only one
family where someone is in work.

Home Play: 25% meet 1 or more poverty
indicators

4 families: all bar one family live in social housing

Play focussed groups: 75% of families
meet 1 or more poverty indicator 

36 families across 3 groups: full monitoring data here has not been completed for a number of families who attend sporadically and we are reviewing
strategies for data collection. 

Impact on home learning
environment

Secure referrals from a variety of
services for families at levels 1 -2 of
need

Services addressing the home learning environment are predominantly accessed driectly by families, with referrals mainly coming in solely for the Home Play
service, which is at a low level.  We previously reported on this output in relation to the Bump-Start service where we are dependent on referrals and where
65% of referrals across the whole period to date are at L.2.  See Appendix twhere we are reviewing this service to reach a decison on which families we should
be accepting.

Secure synergy of delivery with
Children's Centres and specifically
services focussed at a universal level

One group is operating successfully in Rock Ferry Children's Centre and a further two are starting in July.

Secure partnerships with schools to
deliver in buildings previously occupied
by Children's Centres and to develop
services which complement the school's
Foundation Stage delivery.

We have one or more groups running successfully in all three schools on the Beechwood estate, including two pilots for parents and their children (18 families)
joining the Foundation 1 stage, to introduce them to the work which the school will be doing with children as they join school.

Activities to engage parents with 'fun'
piloted

Two half term and Easter school holiday events held.

Programme of play activity on
Beechwood estate established and
programme in Rock Ferry planned.

An established programme on the Beechwood Ballantine estate provides a basis to develop in response to demand.  In Rock Ferry two RIT@ groups provide the
basis for starting a Stay & Play and Baby Discoverers groups in July.

30 or more families attend groups 80 families attended groups: at the Manor, St Pauls and Bidston Village Primary schools and at Rock Ferry Children's Centre and Our House Rock Ferry.

8 or more families receive one-to-one
support

4 families received one-to-one support.  We have transferred delivery of this service to Home-Start Wirral and referrals are already increasing.

Impact on parental
warmth and sensitivity

Secure referrals from midwives and
health visitors for antenatal support

Numbers over-all are meeting our targets but referrals from midwives remain low.  We are compiling an analysis of the first 40 referrals to share with referrers
and the wider sector, so as to review the focus and potential of this service.

Secure shared data relating to
pregnancy and births from Arrowe Park
and 121 midwives.  Needed for
evaluation and planning.

The participation of Home-Start Wirral in the 0-19 programme allows our antenatal service access to this data.



Birkenhead Foundation Years Project milestones

Page 2

SERVICE OUTPUT and
OUTCOME

January - June 2015 Red, green,
amber

Commentary

Impact on parental
warmth and sensitivity

Deliver 1  Reflective Parenting
programme

We are starting an antenatal group in July which will deliver the content of this programme as a rolling programme.  We are in discussion with Peeple, the
owners of the PEEP programmes, in relation to providing them with monitoring information on this approach so that they can review whether it meets their
expectation of the programme.

Impact on parental mental
health and wellbeing

20 or more families receiving one-to-
one antenatal support 

31 families are now receiving support, a 35% increase on 2014 figures.

Influence multi-agency
collaboration around
school readiness

Collaborative work with Springfield
Nursery at Beechwood agreed

No new developments this quarter.

Meeting with hospital maternity service
to discuss action in response to
maternity report

No developments.

Baby to Toddler consultation
questionnaire piloted.

Report being compiled.



1

Bump-Start: What do we know about who the service is reaching and what it 
is achieving? Extract from analysis of service to date to illustrate the process of review and 
reflection we are operating.

Between February 2014 and end May 2015 (16 months) the Bump-Start service has received 
40 referrals for mothers living in Birkenhead.  This exploratory report examines what our 
records show in relation to who is receiving support; the time frame in which support is 
happening; the scope of support being given; and whether any of these issues relate to 
specific referrers, or to the needs of mothers in different situations.  This will provide us 
with a basis upon which we can look at the outcomes for parents found within this time 
scale and make judgements on which mothers, in what situations, benefit from this service.  
This may result in decisions to change our approach to referral or acceptance criteria, or to 
the support mothers receive.  It will contribute to ways in which we monitor these mothers1 
and their children’s journeys going forward.  

Approximately one third of these mothers are still receiving support.  Two have ended 
Bump-Start support but have been transferred to support from an alternative Home-Start 
service; two have moved on to receive support from another Project service.  Where they 
live in or in streets adjoining the project’s target areas mothers being supported will be 
encouraged to access other project services.  Monitoring of children’s and mother’s 
outcomes will develop and continue. 

Profile of mothers

Age

Under 20 years   2   (5%)
20s 28 (70%)
30s   6 (15%)
Unknown   4 (10%)
TOTAL 40 (100%)

Ethnicity

White British 33 (82.5%)
White East European   3 (7.5%)
Central American   1 (2.5%)
Mixed race   1 (2.5%)
Unknown   2 (5%)
TOTAL 40 (100%)

1 To avoid confusion, the term ‘mother’ is used here as short hand for the person receiving support.  In most 
cases support is focussed on the mother but in a minority of cases support has benefited the partner/father 
directly too – a section of this report explores what we know about this help.  ‘Grandmother’ is used to 
identify the role of the maternal mother, who play a part in the support available to several of these families.



2

Household poverty status – using proxy measures of housing (privately rented, social 
housing, living with parents, hostel), no one working in household, and no access to a car.

Three poverty indicators 18 (45%)
Two poverty indicators   8 (20%)
One poverty indicator   10 (25%) – all in work, running cars, not home owners
Unknown     4 (10%)2 
TOTAL 40 (100%)
None of the families owned their own houses; more were living in privately rented housing 
than in social housing, three were in hostels and two with a parent.

DISCUSSION

What does this overview of mothers referred to Bump-Start tell us?  We examine the age 
profile further below to explore whether the cluster of mothers in their 20s represents a 
particular group of vulnerable women.  The smaller number of mothers in their 30s and 
absence of any in their 40s is partly accountable for by the likelihood that women in poorer 
communities, with less demanding careers and fewer qualifications, tend to start families 
earlier and, if pregnant later in life, may feel better equipped to cope. 

The demographic spread, although unlikely to be representative of the constituency as a 
whole at such small scale, is missing two ethnic groups which might be expected to appear – 
Chinese and Asian mothers.  This may be a feature of actual or perceived stronger family 
support.

The proxy poverty indicators appear to show that this group of mothers meets the Trust’s 
objective of reaching poorer families, whilst offering a universal service.

We would welcome comments on this from referrers and others in the sector.

Is the profile of Bump-Start families a reflection of where referrals come from?

Referrer No. of referrals received % of referrals received
Self 14 35%
Health Visitor 9 22.5%
Midwives – hospital 4
Midwifes – community 1

5 12.5%

Home-Start Breast Feeding project 4 10%
Women’s Refuge 2 5%
GPs 2 5%
Children & Young People’s Dept. 1 2.5%
Gateway (safeguarding) 1 2.5%
Pathways Team (care leavers) 1 2.5%
Forum Housing 1 2.5%
9 agencies 40 100%

2 2 are at the beginning of support, poverty status will become known; 1 did not accept support, therefore is 
unknown; 1 engaged very briefly.



3

DISCUSSION

What is driving the large number of self referrals? 

Why are so few referrals being received from midwives?  

We would welcome suggestions or comments.

From referral to support

Support was not accepted by 7 mothers (17.5% of referrals).  A further 2 mothers, both of 
whom had previously lost care of one or more child, had accepted support, received a visit 
from the co-ordinator but did not engage further.  The remaining 31 families were 
supported in the following ways: 

 9 (20% of those supported) received Co-ordinator support
 Of those 9, 7 received time limited co-ordinator support
 2 have received substantial and on-going co-ordinator support 
 22 (71% of all those supported) have been supported by a volunteer.  Of those 

families 2 have received support for a more limited period of time 
 In all, 22 families have received support over a sustained period of time.  This 

represents 55% of referrals and 71% of all receiving support.

Time scale of support 

 Duration of support – over view  - to follow
 Support during pregnancy – to follow

Why are we receiving late referrals?

Bump-Start referrals are accepted from 20 weeks of pregnancy with the aim of supporting 
the mother through the established stage of pregnancy until her child is 6 months old.  The 
rationale for this is to support the mother during the period when stress might impact on 
the foetus and to support mother in her preparations for birth and parenthood.  In 
establishing the service a minority of referrals have been made at an earlier stage of 
pregnancy and the Co-ordinator accepts these, while confirming with the referrer and In 
addition to delays in attracting any referrals, the project has encountered difficulties in 
securing referrals towards the end of the first three months of pregnancy (between 20 and 
28 weeks).

Stage of gestation when 
referred

number %

Up to 28 weeks 15 37.5%
29-34 weeks 12 30%
35-40 weeks 8 20%
Unknown 5 12.5%

40 100%


Are late referrals related to when referrers become aware of the pregnancy, or the need?  



4

Referrer - referrals 
made in each period of 
gestation

Up to 28 
weeks

29-34 weeks 35-40 weeks Unknown3

Midwives (5) 4 1
GPs (2) 1 1
Self (14) 6 3 3 2
Breast Feeding Project 
(4)

1 2 1

Health Visitors (9) 2 4 2 1
Refuge (2) 1
Pathway team (1) 1
Gateway (1)
CYPD (1) 1
Forum Housing (1) 1

 Reasons for delayed support during pregnancy – to follow
 Support in baby’s 1st 6 months – to follow
 Characteristics of time limited support: what support given, reasons for early ending

Characteristics of sustained support

 Volunteer sustained support, linked to mother’s needs
 Co-ordinator sustained support, linked to mother’s needs
 Family support available: role of partners and grandmother
 Mothers who are care leavers

Extract 1 

What type of families will benefit from Bump-Start?

Mothers and families with complex needs

Bump-Start was planned as a universal service to support pregnant women where there 
were low level concerns regarding issues such as isolation, depression or stress, associated 
with poverty.  The service aimed to impact on the mother’s ability to bond or engage easily 
with a new baby, with the long-term objective of supporting healthy development in the 
baby and increasing the chances of a child growing up in poverty being better equipped to 
do well at school.  It was not intended to cater for women in need of significant support or 
at risk of mental health problems which would suggest the need for intensive therapeutic 
support – typically in receipt of multi-agency support – and identified as ‘Level 3’.  Neither 
was it intended to make any impact where there were significant concerns about existing 
children, where a pregnant woman might be facing a pre-birth assessment, with one or 
more child previously taken into care – identified as ‘Level 4’.  In the event, both categories 
of women have been referred and accepted by the service.

3 Unknowns are where family did not take up support or engaged very briefly.



5

Of the 40 referrals to date: 65% (26) have been as Level 2; 5% (2) have been at Level 3 and 
27.5% (11) at Level 4 – no level is recorded for one family (2.5%) where we were unable to 
make contact.

The reality of family situations is however more complex than a single assessment at referral 
reveals: families receiving support can make dramatic improvements in their circumstances 
and no longer require aspects of support they previously relied upon; others unravel as 
hidden or unidentified needs emerge in a family with ostensibly few problems.  All family 
support and social care services are under pressure with shrinking resources and it is 
unsurprising that there have been unanticipated and unsought referrals at higher levels of 
need.   

Extract 2

Mothers at risk of losing care of their children

Six mothers were referred to Bump-Start who had previously lost a child/ren to care – from 
1 to 5 children in each case, experiencing a variety of care situations.  Of those six mothers, 
two responded by disguised compliance – accepting the Co-ordinator’s initial referral but 
avoiding further contact, except in one case to seek support at the stage when the baby was 
at risk of being removed.  Contact has ended for these two mothers but it is almost 
inevitable that both have lost custody of their child.

Of the four mothers who accepted support, all are still caring for their ‘Bump-Start’ baby.

Two additional mothers, both with specific additional needs – a care leaver who has 
experienced multiple abusive situations and a mother with learning difficulties – are 
currently at risk of losing care of their child.

DISCUSSION

Are the results for this group of mothers, with significant need for support, sufficient to 
justify continuing to offer them the service?  What are the risks?

What follow on support can be given so that mothers in this situation are not left 
unsupported when Bump-Start support ends and fail to sustain the care for their child?  
How do we work with other services around on-going support, if we seek to continue 
support for families with more complex needs?

If a decision is reached to refuse referrals where there are more complex needs, will we lose 
the opportunity to turn round situations where the volunteer input may provide a crucial 
difference?





1

WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 21 July 2015
CHILD POVERTY UPDATE

1.0 Background

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on actions being taken by 
the Wirral Child and Family Poverty Working group (herein referred to as the 
Working Group) and to provide an update on the development of the school 
community hubs (herein referred to as the Hubs).  

2.0 The Working Group Update
2.1 Membership, terms of reference, positioning and focus of the group have 

been reviewed in light of Liverpool City Region (LCR) Strategy refresh.  Work 
is underway, led by Public Health to capture the Working Group’s key 
components in a summary document that includes:

 JSNA summary
 Key principles that will reflect the LCR Strategy
 Terms of reference and work plan
 Achievements to date

It is anticipated that the document will be taken to Cabinet along with the 
regional strategy in September 2015. 

2.2 The group received a presentation from the Church Credit Champion Co-
ordinator for Wirral.  The call to action will be to introduce ‘money in schools’ 
project following evaluation outcomes from the current pilot in Sefton.

2.3 Contribution has been made to the climate change group action plan where 
the group has identified where they can facilitate support regarding fuel 
poverty.

2.4 A process evaluation of the Hubs to date is in progress, led by Public Health.  
This evaluation will be completed by the end of August 2015. 

3.0 Local Projects Update
Fender Community Hub (See Appendix A for a case study)
3.1 Sub groups are to focus on events for children; health and adult support, and 

fund raising has been set up.  These groups are well attended by parents 
across the estate that swap and share ideas of best practice.  

3.2 A ‘Swap Board’ that covers furniture, clothes and bedding is coordinated by 
community connectors.  

3.3 The Hub can provide anecdotal evidence to support the following:
 Improved relationships between primary schools and pupils from these 

schools ensuring readiness for secondary school and improved transition
 Readiness for school return after holidays and reduction previously observed 

‘dip’ upon return after the summer holidays due to continued involvement in 
educational activities for a further 5 weeks during the break

 Improved SATs results due to revision sessions set up during Easter break



2

 Subsidised Nursery/Primary holiday places for vulnerable pupils in Social 
Care or TAF has reduced the crisis points for these families and improved 
school readiness for those pupils joining F2 in September.

3.4 Increased engagement with parents and carers regarding employment 
opportunities can be demonstrated through numbers that access Lifelong 
Learning.  The Hub has seen 20 successful completers in GCSE Maths and 
English.

Leasowe Community hub (See Appendix B for a case study)
3.5 The Hub has supported set up of Beavers, Scouts and Cubs and is pursuing 

opportunities for Brownies & Guides. Leasowe Early Years is hosting Beavers 
& Cubs and the Hub is hosting Scouts. 

3.6 The two community organisers (one Hub and the other one from Leasowe 
Development Trust) are now developing and running joint projects.   A 
number of community connectors at the Holy Spirit Family Hub now wish to 
form a parents group to support fundraising for school and also allotment 
growing projects, they would not have had the confidence before engaging 
with the Hub.

3.7 Kingsway Academy has now made a greater commitment to the Hub and is 
working to extend its’ community role. They are developing a link with Teen 
Champions and incorporating this into the citizenship element of the school. 
This has been a really positive development for longer term engagement of 
local youths. They are also offering the use of facilities for community 
activities without charge and the expertise of staff to support sessions based 
in schools or in the Millennium Centre.

3.8 The Hub has co-organised a number of events within other settings,  these 
include Wirral Credit Union collection point and a family picnic.  A weekly 
Music Club for children has been funded by the Hub 

St. Paul’s Hub
3.9.1 It had previously been agreed to extend the concept of the hub approach to 

include a school within the Birkenhead Constituency Committee utilising 
funding from Public Health. 

3.9.2 St Paul’s Roman Catholic Primary School in Beechwood was successful in   
their tender to develop a community hub focussing on school readiness as a 
means to address the impact of child poverty. The Steering Committee made 
recommendations around the operating of the hub.

3.9.3 Asset Based Community Development (ABCD) principles: The St Paul’s team     
has been invited to attend ABCD training and the steering group which is 
made up of Beechwood Big Local (Lottery funded partnership) 
representatives are encouraging the development of the project through 
ABCD Community Connectors as a key part of promoting the project.



3

3.9.4 Improving speech and language for children aged two. Speech and language    
therapist hours are delivered through the project and include involving parents 
in ‘chatter matters’ workshops. Building on that, the community hub is offering 
‘Stay and Play’ sessions run by Homestart volunteers. The Hub has attracted 
additional funding from Wirral Life Long Learning and Family Learning 
Services for family trips.

3.9.5 The project has installed a climbing frame to enhance outdoor play. They are 
also working directly with Catholic Children’s Society to support families in 
parenting projects.

3.9.6 The St Paul’s team are collating extensive monitoring data through the 
Welcomm system which measures progress of children in their 
communication. They also measure general school readiness and are 
capturing anecdotal evidence of impact. 

3.9.7 They are working with Leasowe and Woodchurch community hubs to 
exchange good practice and also invite Bidston and Manor primary schools to 
access their services. As the project has only recently started an impact 
monitoring report will be undertaken at the end of 2015.

Birkenhead Foundation Years Trust
3.9.8 Pilot services in the Beechwood Ballantine estate, Rock Ferry and Birkenhead 

are now established with two one-to-one services and 10 groups running by 
July.  102 families were supported in the quarter January – March.

3.9.9 Antenatal and baby support is being delivered via the Bump-Start service 
(data is currently being analysed the on the first 40 mothers referred to this 
service to identify lessons and priorities for the future); an antenatal group is 
being launched this month and a Baby Discovery group for babies from 0 to 8 
months, both at Rock Ferry.

3.9.10 Play support is well established in Beechwood with support for the Read It 
Together @ groups growing particularly in Rock Ferry. 

3.9.11 Two classes for children new to Foundation Stage 1 and their parents have 
been successfully piloted at the Manor Primary and Bidston Village Primary 
and it is planned to offer this in the autumn to schools in Rock Ferry.

3.9.12 The Triple S - Starting School Successfully (re-named Brief Early Skills and 
Support Index) indicators are in the final phase of the research, involving 
wider testing across a more ethnically diverse group of children than was 
achieved in the original research; this tool is now believed to be a reliable 
indicator for children from 2.5-5.5 years.  A second resource for children aged 
1-3 years, a parental measure, is still in the development stage.  It is 
anticipated that the final report on these two measures will be available in 
early September (2015).   The Birkenhead Project is now planning to use the 
BESSI as a key monitoring tool.  



4

4.0 Recommendations
4.1 It is recommended that the Children’s Trust Board:
 Note the updates set out in the report and request further information as 

required
 Agree to receive the Working Group’s refreshed work plan and support the 

long term plans 
 Agree for an update on the Hubs’ work to be presented at the Liverpool City 

Region meeting

Report Authors:
Bev Morgan, CEO, Home-start Wirral 
Chair, Wirral Child and Family Poverty Working Group
Telephone: 0151 647 8369
email: bevmorgan@homestartwirral.co.uk

Rebecca Mellor, Public Health Manager, Wirral Council
Telephone: 0151 666 5186
email: rebeccamellor@wirral.gov.uk

mailto:bevmorgan@homestartwirral.co.uk
mailto:rebeccamellor@wirral.gov.uk


5

Appendix A
Fender Hub Case Study 

Supporting positive wellbeing

X is a young child who lives locally and has been identified as having learning 
disabilities.  Mum, by her own admission, has bi – polar and has found it extremely 
hard to engage with the school and the Hub.  The Hub’s community connector made 
visits to the child’s home to support mum and dad and building up a relationship with 
the child.  The child was offered a place in Easter Camp to support the family and 
give them a break.  Mum’s self-esteem was so low that she was a virtual recluse.  
The Hub continued to support, even dropping around just for a ‘cuppa’.  The Hub 
offered to ‘walk mum over’ to the coffee afternoon, explaining it was only for an hour.  
Mum was nervous but said she will come.  That was 6 months ago.  Mum has grown 
in strength and explained that she had never attended school.  The Hub offered her 
a place at English & Maths, mum has attended both and even accessed the highest 
papers and attended night school.   Mum said the Hub had changed her life and 
given her anew outlook, she is now going to go onto Wirral Met to access a 
midwifery course. The child’s attendance is now 100% in school.  



6

Appendix B
Leasowe Hub Case Study

Supporting positive wellbeing

J is in her late 60s and lives with her husband who has had a number of health 
related issues that make him highly dependent on his wife. J’s two youngest 
grandchildren attend Holy Spirit Primary school and a third grandchild is in mid-
teens.
 J’s daughter has a number of complicated heath issues that leaves her reliant on 
the care of her mother for both herself and her 3 children. The family have previously 
been known to social care following concerns about the well-being of the children 
and parenting capacity. They chose not to engage in services offered at the time of 
assessment.
J is an avid gardener and has led many sessions in the community allotment as well 
as fundraising for the garden and cookery sessions, during the few hours of spare 
time she has.
On many occasions she has brought along her two youngest grandchildren and it is 
clear to see that her commitment to them is very tiring, during half term is an 
especially hard time for J as she doesn’t have the respite of the children being in 
school.
On the four weeks that approached the half term at the end of May we arranged for J 
to access one therapy session a week for four weeks at Leasowe Early Years that 
was funded through the Hub. This gave J a chance to take a little time for herself 
away from her daily challenges and recharge her batteries leaving her more relaxed 
leading in to the half term.
Since then J has continued to volunteer at the Hub and has returned and is 
continuing to use this service. She has also enquired about possible support 
available for her daughter and the hub is assisting her in planning for the summer 
holidays.



WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 21st July 2015

Report to the Children’s Trust Board on Safeguarding Arrangements

1.0 Background and Introduction

1.1 This report forms part of a regular safeguarding update from the WSCB to the 
Children’s Trust Board on key developments locally and nationally on regulatory reform, 
updates on progress of local Serious Case Reviews and work locally and key challenges 
for the partnership and agencies.

2.0 National Reform and Safeguarding Developments

2.1 Priority areas for the WSCB (2015-16)
Priorities of the WSCB for 2015-16. The WSCB agreed the four priority areas for the 
WSCB in 2015-16. The priorities form the basis of the work of the safeguarding board in 
addition to its statutory duties. The day to day work is largely undertaken by the multi-
agency sub groups of the WSCB. An action plan is developed for each of the priority areas 
and the plan is published in the WSCB Business Plan within the Annual Report. This 
document is published in September 2015. The agreed priorities for 2015-16 are:

 Priority One – Children and young people feel safe and are safe. A key element 
of this priority is the promotion of safeguarding beyond organisations who directly 
deliver services to children and young people to the wider community and other 
organisations who may be able to support safeguarding. Through this priority the 
WSCB are promoting the message that safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility. 
An example is taxi drivers who may be able to support the fight against Child 
Sexual Exploitation by perhaps identifying repeat journeys involving young people 
to the same location. The WSCB is continuing to work with such organisations to 
ensure children are safeguarded.

 Priority Two - Children and young people are engaged in positive 
relationships, which are not exploitative. Partnership work undertaken to combat 
Child Sexual Exploitation will continue to be a priority in 2015-16. The focus of the 
priority is to ensure that children and young people at risk of, or victims of child 
sexual exploitation are identified at the earliest opportunity and receive the 
appropriate help and support, and also to ensure that in Wirral the community has a 
zero tolerance to CSE. The WSCB will continue to audit the effectiveness of the 
multi-agency response to CSE and will also work closely with Merseyside Police 
and the Crown Prosecution Service to record operations to disrupt activity, the 
number of prosecutions of perpetrators and patterns of activity. The WSCB will also 
continue to promote the www.listentomystory.co.uk campaign and to raise 
awareness of CSE with children and young people. 

 Priority Three – The needs of children, young people and their families are 
identified and responded to early. The WSCB has a statutory duty to ensure that 
the early help offer is effective. The Board is working closely with the Early Help 
strategic group to develop a robust multi-agency performance dataset and will be 
testing how the Early Help offer supports other priority areas of the WSCB including 
combatting domestic abuse and child sexual exploitation. The WSCB will also work 

http://www.listentomystory.co.uk/


with partners to implement the Neglect Strategy (the WSCB have revised the policy, 
procedure, practice guidance, multi-agency training and graded care profile neglect 
assessment tool) and to test how Early Help contributes to identifying and 
responding to neglect at the earliest opportunity.

 Priority Four – Fewer children and young people witness or experience 
domestic violence, and consequently, more children and young people are 
living in family homes where they feel safe. This was also a priority for 2014-15 
and is overseen by the joint children and adult’s safeguarding board’s Domestic 
Abuse sub group. The work for 2015-16 will include the roll out of the revised multi-
agency training, publication of the new procedure and referral pathway for children 
and adults, completion of a needs assessment and auditing of the effectiveness of 
the multi-agency response to domestic abuse. We will know we are making 
progress when children, young people and their parents tell us what works and that 
services and support are provided at the right time and in the right way, and when 
professionals and people in the community know what to look for and know what to 
do.

2.2 Feedback from the WSCB Meeting 9th June 2015
The full WSCB meets once a quarter to discuss safeguarding items of local and national 
significance including those the WSCB holds a statutory duty for. The WSCB does not 
publish the minutes publicly due to the sensitive nature of some of the content. The 
following topics were discussed at the meeting held on the 9th June 2015:

 Presentation by young people from the Creative Youth Development group (formerly 
Wirral Arts Theatre). Ten young people presented part of a dance performance they 
are developing on the subject of Child Sexual Exploitation. The group have worked 
with the Safeguarding Board, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
Merseyside Police and Children’s Services to research how young people are 
sexually exploited, what makes them vulnerable, the effects it has on them and the 
support available to help them. The performance was very well received by the 
Board and the full performance will be performed at the Wirral Youth Conference in 
the Autumn. The WSCB will work with the group to help ensure the performance is 
then rolled out to schools and other youth settings. 

 Multi-agency Performance Information. The Performance Committee of the WSCB 
following work originally undertaken by the Greater Manchester authorities has 
developed a multi-agency dataset of 155 safeguarding performance indicators. The 
dataset was presented at the WSCB meeting in June where it was approved. It now 
replaces the previous dataset which was dominated by local authority children’s 
services performance information. The WSCB is developing a ‘windscreen’ to be 
able to present key information and to drill down into the data ‘behind the data’. The 
information will help direct the WSCB to areas of safeguarding which may be 
causing concern.

 Priority areas for the WSCB (2015-16). As described in item 2.1 above the four 
priority areas for the WSCB were agreed. 

 Managing Allegations Report. Suzanne Cottrell, the Local Authority Designated 
Officer for Allegations (LADO) presented the annual report from the LADO service. 
The LADO is a statutory role which sits within the WSCB and is defined in Working 
Together 2015 as the role which oversees cases where allegations are made 
against a professional who works with children and young people. Agencies are 



required to report allegations to the LADO within 24 hours. The LADO will ensure 
the correct procedures are followed, including involvement by the police and 
children’s services and will direct organisations to undertake investigations and 
report on findings when appropriate. Suzanne reported that 229 allegations had 
been reported to her in 2014-15, a 28% increase on the previous year. The 
increase has happened because agencies are much clearer about their 
responsibilities to report rather than because the number of incidents has 
increased. Suzanne leads and contributes to a wide number of safeguarding 
training courses and in the last 12 months over 500 professionals have received 
training. The WSCB also has an awareness raising strategy and a poster distributed 
to all partner agencies is included at Appendix Two. 

 Quality of CAF/TAF episodes. Vicky Palmer, the Quality Assurance Manager for the 
WSCB presented a report about the quality assurance of early help CAF 
assessments and Team Around the Family (TAF) episodes. Vicky reported that 
quarterly auditing of the quality of CAF/TAF episodes is undertaken by the multi-
agency CAF QA group. To support continuous improvements to the quality of the 
episodes the QA group oversees the CAF/TAF training, publishes a quarterly QA 
report, has published a model CAF and guidance and has published a quality 
assurance framework including tools for professionals to use in supervision. The 
group has also developed a distance travelled tool for families to use and is 
planning to introduce a CAF Champion programme to partner organisations.  

 HELP Domestic Abuse Perpetrators Programme. Roy Cook, from the Merseyside 
Community Rehabilitation Company - CRC (formerly part of the Probation Service) 
delivered a presentation about the HELP (Healthy Relationships Group Work 
Programme) which is designed for men with identified relationship difficulties with 
partners or ex-partners. It is usually used where there has been a domestic abuse 
related conviction but this is not a pre-requisite. Roy reported that the programme 
has been successful and its positive impact was evidenced in an evaluation by 
Liverpool John Moores University in 2014.  The CRC aim to deliver sessions in 
Wirral and to extend the programme into a HELP for young people programme in 
partnership with local secondary schools.

2.3 WSCB Case Review- Process for Learning Reviews
The WSCB has published an updated Learning and Improvement Framework – this is the 
document which sets out the process for undertaking reviews of cases. The framework 
includes a new process for reviewing cases which do not reach the threshold for a 
statutory Serious Case Review but which would benefit multi-agency learning by being 
reviewed. The WSCB is currently completing one learning review and will be undertaking 
two others over the summer.

2.4 WSCB Learning Review- Child K
The WSCB’s Serious Case Review committee are currently leading a multi-agency 
learning review in regards to the case of Child K. The case includes elements of possible 
forced marriage, intention to remove a child from the country, cultural and communication 
issues. The case was nominated for review as the WSCB felt it would highlight an issue 
most professionals would rarely come across and will create learning for the partnership 
which can inform the handling of future cases.

The committee convened a multi-agency Case Review group drawn from the agencies 
and professionals who had had direct contact with Child K and other members of the 



family. The Case Review group met at the end of June to consider five identified key 
Practice Episodes from the case where there were missed opportunities for agencies to 
intervene more effectively. The group identified several themes from the case which will be 
used as the basis of recommendations. These are:

 The lack of awareness amongst agencies of key documents; specifically the 
Government multi-agency guidance: Handling Cases of Forced marriage (2009). 
The guidance in this document for agencies and practitioners was not consistently 
followed or applied and consequently there were missed opportunities to apply the 
‘one chance rule’ to keep the young person safe.

 Multi-agency information sharing and coordination of approach was not as ‘joined 
up’ as it needed to be to ensure a robust multi-agency response and at times 
during the course of the episode agencies were involved in dual processes which 
were not effectively communicating with each other

 Throughout the 18 months of the episode there is little evidence that the emotional 
impact on Child K was adequately addressed. It is not evidenced that she was 
offered any counselling until right at the end of the episode and no assessment of 
her mental health was undertaken.

The WSCB is currently compiling the final report and recommendations and this will be 
published at the end of July. Learning from the review will be shared with the partnership 
and will be included in the WSCB’s training programme. Child K is safe and well.

2.5 Evaluation of the Impact of Training
The WSCB and SAPB are introducing this month a revised evaluation strategy which aims 
to evaluate the effectiveness of attendance at multi-agency WSCB and SAPB 
safeguarding training at improving practice and outcomes for children and young people. 
The evaluation has three stages:

 Stage One – at the end of the training course participants will agree what actions/ 
information they will take back to their agencies following attendance at the course

 Stage Two – three months after attendance at the course participants will be 
required to provide evidence of the impact of training (to policies, procedures, 
practice) on a questionnaire from the WSCB/SAPB

 Stage Three – six months after attendance a sample of participants will attend a 
facilitated focus group and will bring evidence of impact on outcomes. The focus 
group will inform a review of the training.

3.0 Recommendations:
3.1 The Wirral Children’s Trust Board notes the report.

Report Author: Contact:
David Robbins Phone 0151 6664314
WSCB Business Manager Email davidrobbins@wirral.gov.uk 

mailto:davidrobbins@wirral.gov.uk


The Way forward - Children’s Joint Commissioning Group

Report for the Children’s Trust Board - 21 July 2015 

Executive Summary

This paper sets out the proposed terms of reference and membership of the newly formed 
Children’s Joint Commissioning Group.  This group will have responsibility to champion 
integrated/joint commissioning as the way forward to reducing health inequalities and 
narrowing the gap around health and wellbeing outcomes. It will enable partners to meet 
their statutory duty, under the Children Act 2004, to co-operate to improve the well-being 
of children.

It will also be the vehicle to ensure that the children’s outcomes, which are part of the 
Wirral Council Plan: a 2020 vision, are delivered.  This will support greater collaboration and 
sets the compass in terms of raising ambitions for children and families and by bringing 
different views and working through these together will help to develop a shared way 
forward:  

 Children are ready for school

 Young People are ready for work and adulthood

 Vulnerable children reach their full potential

Background

In March 2015 the Children’s Trust approved that they become the Children’s Trust 
Partnership Board and that a new group is established which will be the Children’s Joint 
Commissioning Group.   This group will take into consideration the Commissioning Strategy 
2014-16 and the Strategic Joint Commissioning Framework for Children and Young People in 
Wirral 2014-2016 in order to set the strategic direction for the work of the Trust. 

The Group has met on two occasions on 16th June 2015 and 7th July 2015, and supports the 
content of this paper being presented to the Children’s Trust Board.   

Interim arrangements
  
It is proposed that both the Children’s Trust Partnership Board and the Children’s Joint 
Commissioning Group will shadow each other until March 2016. The Children’s Trust 
Partnership Board will continue as a wider stakeholder group, engaging partner providers 
and commissioners of services and elected members. The Board will receive reports on the 



work of the Commissioning Group at each of its meetings, and will provide challenge and 
scrutiny to any emerging proposals for working differently. The Board will meet termly, for 
three meetings between September and March 2016. 

There is work being undertaken corporately to consider what groups are required to deliver 
the Council Plan and how these groups should relate to each other. This review will inform 
the future configuration of partnership arrangements.  

Desk Top Research

Desk top research has taken place to consider best practice and how other local areas are 
considering their position since there is no longer an obligation to have Children’s Trust 
arrangements.

Children’s Joint Commissioning Group 

Membership

The membership of this group will be Strategic Commissioners from organisations that are 
responsible for strategic oversight of commissioning and delivery of services to promote the 
health and wellbeing of children, young people and families, including all organisations that 
are relevant partners under the Children Act 2004.  Representatives need to have authority 
to make decisions 

Director of Children’s Services (Chair)
Director of Public Health
Head of Targeted Services
Head of Specialist Services
Schools Commissioner
CCG: Head of Partnerships 
Police and Crime Commissioner Representatives
Fire and Rescue representative
VCS – Community Action Wirral
Chair of WSCB

Purpose of the group

The purpose of the group is to identify integrated commissioning approaches to support the 
transformation of services, to achieve the key outcomes contained within the 2020 Vision. 
The Group will do this through the development of a local Children’s Joint Commissioning 



Plan, produced with local commissioners from different agencies, to use resources 
effectively and efficiently to secure improved outcomes for children and their families.

Governance

The overarching purpose of the Commissioning Group will be to challenge, scrutinise and 
drive economy of scale within commissioning and procurement; the Group will develop 
plans and integrated approaches, which align budgets, staffing and other resources, to 
maximise the opportunity for improved outcomes. The Group will make decisions within a 
delegated partnership framework. In order to effect this change several mechanisms will 
need to support this such as relationship management, strong partnership working and 
leadership.  It will delegate responsibility for specific areas of work to specialist integrated 
strategy and commissioning focussed groups, retaining accountability for these groups.  

This group will meet on a monthly basis and a new Memorandum of Understanding will be 
produced and signed by partners once the work being undertaken across the partnership to 
determine which bodies are required, and how they relate to each other, to deliver 
improved outcomes in Wirral: the 2020 vision.

Principles of the group

 We will work together to achieve our ambition, building mutual trust, respect and 
openness.

 We will seek the views of children and young people, families and communities 
when planning partnership activities.

 We will be clear about partnership priorities and base our joint planning or 
integrated commissioning of services around them.

 We will identify how integrated commissioning or shared delivery can promote     
high quality, cost-effective service delivery that meets local needs

 We will work flexibly and adapt our plans and activities to changing circumstances.

 We will ensure that decisions are based on clear evidence about local needs and 
about the likely impact of planned activities.

 We will always seek to maximise value for money, both in the partnership activities 
that we develop and in our meeting and information-sharing arrangements.

 We will communicate about what we do, to our staff in partner organisations and to 
children, young people, families and communities.

Joint Responsibilities

 Identify where services are, or could be, jointly commissioned by all or some of the 
key partner agencies and provide strategic direction of integrated commissioning 
arrangements



 Ensure commissioned activities are based on an understanding about the needs of 
local children and young people, and on evidence that they are likely to achieve the 
desired impact

 At intervals not exceeding three years produce a joint strategic plan that is aligned to 
Wirral’s Commissioning Strategy and that identifies the strategic priorities for the 
Joint Commissioning Group,

 Produce an annually-refreshed action plan which identifies how the Joint 
Commissioning Group will deliver its strategic priorities set out in its strategic plan,

 Oversee the implementation of the strategic plan, delegating responsibility to other 
groups where appropriate, and monitor evidence of its impact,

 Provide updates to the Health and Wellbeing Board on progress in integrated 
commissioning, and provide advice on how the needs of children, young people and 
families can be met within planning for health and wellbeing improvements across 
all public services,

 Contribute to the development and update of Wirral’s Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment, ensuring that this includes evidence relating to the health and wellbeing 
needs of children, young people and families,

 Review the annual report from Wirral’s Safeguarding Children Board, identify any 
action that the Joint Commissioning Board should take in response, and ensure that 
this action is implemented,

 Provide information about partnership activities to staff at all levels with partner 
organisations to enable them to understand the strategic direction of the Joint 
Commissioning Group and how it impacts on their work.

Engagement

The Joint Commissioning group will ensure that services commissioned are based on strong 
engagement with children, young people and families; working with what they tell us to 
develop plans to increase opportunities to align budgets, staffing and buildings, to make a 
bigger impact on the key outcomes to improve children and families lives.

Next Steps

The Children and Young People’s Plan will in future, from April 2016, be replaced by a 
Children’s Joint Commissioning Plan informed by evidence and insight gathered from 
children and families, partners, through the JSNA, and evidence of “what works” nationally 
and internationally.  The JSNA will provide the ‘headline’; figures around children’s needs 
and the Children’s Joint Commissioning Plan will provide the supporting detail, for example, 
around how the Council, Health, Schools, Police, Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector will 
work with children and families and other partners to ensure the best start in life for all.  



WIRRAL CHILDREN’S TRUST BOARD – 21st July 2015

Children and Young People’s Plan – Q4 / Year End 2014/15 Performance Report

1.0 Executive Summary

1.1 The Children and Young People’s Plan 2013/16 has been produced by partners to 
address identified needs of children in key priority areas. The plan is delivered by 
partners working through the Strategy Groups. Performance monitoring of the delivery 
of the plan is conducted via the Children’s Trust Executive Board, chaired by the 
Director of Children’s Services and the Wirral Children’s Trust Board chaired by the 
Lead Member for Children’s Services and Lifelong Learning. 

The delivery of key projects is monitored by reporting on the key performance 
measures identified at the planning process. This report provides an overview of 
progress made against the Children’s and Young People’s Plan indicators.  

1.2  At Q4 / YE 2014/15 there are 26 indicators that can be measured. Of these 16 have 
targets set, 8 are performing well against targets (Green), 2 have missed the target by 
between 5% and 10% (Amber), and 6 have missed the target by more than 10% (Red).  

Report Author:    Contact: Tel 0151 691 8032
Carol Sharratt: Performance Management Officer            email: carolsharratt@wirral.gov.uk
 

Appendix: 
Children & Young People’s Plan Scorecard: Q4 / YE 2014-15 





\\bh10201\bh10201data\Shared\Programme Office\Carol\Directorate Plan\F&W\2014-15\CYPP\CYPP_Performance Dashboard Q4-YE 2014-15-CSv1 29/04/2015

Children and Young People's Plan Performance Q4 / Year-end 2014/15 Target RAG Within 5%  5% - 10% Over 10%

Outcome 1: We will support you to have the best possible start to life and to develop healthy lifestyle choices.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 NW Eng SN Target Actual RAG

PHOF 4.1 Infant Mortality 5.0 4.4 4.9 4.3 4.1 4.8

PHOF 2.2 Prevalance of Breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks 31.2 29.9 30.2 31.0 - 46.9 31.5
PHOF 4.2 Tooth Decay in Children under 5 32.1 32.1
PHOF 1.2 School Readiness (Placeholder)
PHOF 2.6 Excess Weight in Reception Year 25.0 24.5 24.7 23.1 23.6 22.5 25.9
PHOF 2.6 Excess Weight in Year 6 35.5 33.8 35.6 35.0 34.4 33.5 36.7
PHOF 2.4 Under 18 Conception Rate per 1,000 females (15 - 17)* 47.3 34.6 33.5 33.7 (2013) 27.6 24.3 26.2
*Latest Conception data relates toJan to Dec 2013 due to reporting delay

Outcome 2: We will keep you safe from harm, in a family environment and where necessary support you at the earliest opportunity.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 NW Eng SN Target Actual RAG

Looked After Children Rate per 10,000 aged 0 - 17 102.0 100.0 99.2 100.1 81.0 60.0 82.2 95.8 101.0
Children in Need Rate per 10,000 aged 0 - 17 445.1 429.7 417.7 396.1 365.3 346.4 410.5 375.0 390.7
Rate of Child Protection Plans per 10,000 43.4 55.0 39.8 43.0 50.8 42.1 - 37.8 33.6
Children Plans lasting 2 or more years 1.8 3.5 4.2 3.8 4.5 5.2 4.2 - 7.1
Children subject to a CP a second or subsequent time 17.6 18.6 17.1 11.7 15.2 15.8 - - 20.7
Stability of Foster Placements - Number of Placements 9.0 10.5 9.4 6.8 9.3  (2011) 11.0  (2012) 10.8   (2012) 10.0 5.0
Stability of Foster Placements - Length of Placement 59.8 70.0 71.5 67.9 68.2   (2012) 68.0  (2012) 69.1 (2012) 70.0 73.9
Timeliness of Adoptions 72.2 69.9 64.7 75.0 65.3 (2011) 73.4  (2011) 69.6  (2011) 80.0 68.2

Outcome 3: We will raise your aspirations and achievement, so that you are equipped to enter adulthood and working life.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 NW Eng SN Target Actual RAG

Percentage of Children achieving a Good Level of Development -EYFS 47.0 58.0 60.0 56.2 - 63
Percentage of Pupils reaching expected level in Phonics Decoding - KS1 - - 54.0 68.0 74.0 74.0 75.4 - 76
Percentage of Children Achieving Level 4 + (Reading, Writing and Maths) - KS2 - - 74.0 76.0 80.0 79.0 80.8 - 78
Percentage of Children Achieving 5 or more GCSE's (Including English and maths) 58.7 64.1 65.4 66.2 55.8 53.4 55.5 - 60
Uncapped Average Point Score Key Stage 4 445.2 468.7 476.1 465.6 360.1 354.9 358.4 - 377.8
Percentage of Schools in Education Quality - - 94.0 94.0 - - - 90 91
Percentage of Total Absence in Primary Schools 5.3 5.1 4.5 5.2 4.5 4.7 4.6 -
Percentage of Total Absence in Secondary Schools 6.4 6.1 5.7 6.1 5.8 5.8 5.9 -
Percentage of Offers of Education or Training to 16 and 17 year olds (September Guarantee) 93.0 91.6 94.3 95.9 93.8 92.4 93.1 - 95.5 (P)
Percentage of Young People aged 16 - 18 who are Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) ** - 8.9 7.5 5.7 6.4 5.8 7.3 5.5 4.3 (Dec)

Outcome 4: We will support those of you who need extra support to reach your potential and do well.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 NW Eng SN Target Actual RAG

Attainment Gap across Early Learning Goals - 2013 onwards - - - 39.50 37.3 33.9 37.4 36.6 35.1
Percentage of FSM Pupils reaching expected level in Phonics Decoding, KS1 - - 41.0 58.00 61.0 61.0 61.9 - 62
FSM Attainment Gap - Percentage of Children Achieving Level 4+  KS2 ( Reading, Writing and Maths) - - 25.0 20.9 19.0 18.0 20.6 16.0 18.0
FSM Attainment Gap - Percentage of Children Achieving 5 or more GCSE's (Including English and maths) 36.1 34.2 30.0 34.9 29.6 27.0 29.1 26.5 35.7
Percentage of Children with a SEN Statement Achieving 5 or more GCSE's (Including English and maths) 6.0 9.0 10.5 11.5 8.0 8.0 8.2 - 6.3
Looked After Children - Percentage of Children Achieving Level 4 and above at Key Stage 2 (Reading, Writing  and Maths) - - 44.0 43.0 50.0 48.0 54.2 61.0 46.0
Looked After Children - Percentage of Children Achieving 5 or more GCSE's (Including English and maths) 7.8 10.9 12.0 11.8 11.8 12.0 - 44.0 13.2 (P)
Attainment Gap - Level 2 at Aged 19 25.0 20.0 21.0 17.0 18.0 17.0 Not yet available 16.0 19
Attainment Gap - Level 3 at Aged 19 36.0 36.0 34.0 36.0 29.0 25.0 Not yet available 31.0 38
Percentage of Care Leavers who are  in Education, Employment or Training (EET) 39.0 48.0 58.1 66.0 60.0 58.0 62.8 70.0 67.5 (Dec)

Outcome 5: We will listen to your views to inform decisions that affect you.

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 NW Eng SN Target Actual RAG

Percentage of Children particpating in Reviews 93.8 94.2 95.7 NYA - - -

Number of Schools in Youth Parliament - 12 16 16 - - -

Percentage of pupils who have shared their ideas about their school- Primary  (HELP survey) - - 54.5 - - -

Percentage of pupils who have shared their ideas about their school- Secondary (HELP survey) - - 65.7 - - -

Benchmark 2013/14 data
Benchmark 2013/14 data

Benchmark data relates to Jan to Dec 2013

Four Yearly study next due 2016

Measure Latest Benchmark Q4/ Year-end 2014/15Historically

Benchmarking 2011 data. 3 year averages 
latest available 2010 - 12

Historically

Not yet available

Measure Latest Benchmark Q4/ Year-end 2014/15Historically

Not yet available

Measure Latest Benchmark Q4/ Year-end 2014/15Historically

EET - Reported performance is for care leavers at age 19 only. The performance changed in 2014 and now includes care leavers at age 20 and 21. Projected performance aginst the new measure is expected to be inline with local and national benchmarks due the improvements in the measure for 19 year olds.

Benchmarking for 13/14 not published for 
data quality reasons.  

** NEET - Final outturn position 2014/15 

Data Available November 2015

Data Available December 2015

Data Available September 2015

Data Available September 2015

Measure Latest Benchmark Q4/ Year-end 2014/15Historically

Help Survey 
Under 

Review

Measure Latest Benchmark Q4/ Year-end 2014/15




	Agenda
	1 09:00  Apologies and Introductions
	3 09:10  Minutes of the Last Meeting
	5 09:30 Birkenhead Foundation Years Project Update
	ZM BYFP milestone report July '15
	ZM Extract from analysis of Bump-Start data, BFYP, July 15

	7 10:30 Child Poverty Update
	8 10:45 Safeguarding Update
	9 11:00  Children's Trust Board - The Way Forward
	10 11:15 Performance Management - Yr 2014
	CYPP_Performance Dashboard Q4-YE 2014-15
	CYPP



